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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning. I'm

          3  Leroy Comrie, Chairperson of the City Council's

          4  Consumer Affairs Committee. I want to thank everyone

          5  for joining us this morning and attending today's

          6  meeting.

          7                 I want to first thank Council Member

          8  Vincent Gentile, Chair of the Committee on

          9  Libraries, for introducing and supporting Resolution

         10  430-A, calling upon the New York State Legislature

         11  to lower the percentage of homeowners insurance

         12  policies and insurance provider may cancel without

         13  approval from the Department of Insurance.

         14                 As many of us recall, severe

         15  rainstorms and a localized tornado hit New York City

         16  earlier this year. Those storms caused major

         17  property damage, nearly shut down, and in fact, did

         18  shut down several subway lines, flooded roads and

         19  demonstrated the importance of proper insurance.

         20                 Recently, however, some large

         21  insurance companies issued cancellation notices to

         22  homeowners in areas of New York, placing those

         23  individuals in a hazardous position.

         24                 New York's coastal areas are

         25  unusually vulnerable to major storms. However,
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          2  property owners located further inland, including

          3  residents of Park Slope, Ditmas Park and

          4  Williamsburg have also seen policy cancellations,

          5  and many whose policies were not cancelled have

          6  often seen large increases in their premiums.

          7                 In February 2007, Allstate announced

          8  it would discontinue insurance coverage on houses it

          9  found susceptible to storm damage or owners who had

         10  previously filed multiple claims.

         11                 Nearly 30,000 homeowners in the five

         12  boroughs, as well as Westchester, Nassau and Suffolk

         13  Counties were affected by the decision.

         14                 Liberty Mutual Group engaged in

         15  similar mutual tactics. Using a home's proximity to

         16  the coast as a justification for a non-renewal. Of

         17  its 250,000 policy holders in New York State,

         18  Liberty Mutual chose not to renew 640 policies.

         19                 However, in addition to a property's

         20  distance to coastal areas, these companies also used

         21  the homeowner's lack of life or automobile insurance

         22  with the same company as a basis for cancellation.

         23                 The State Department of Insurance

         24  found that attaching conditions to the renewal of a

         25  homeowner's insurance policy violates provisions of
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          2  the State law and since that ruling Liberty Mutual

          3  renewed all 640 policies.

          4                 Allstate has also announced that it

          5  plans to reinstate policies in situations where the

          6  non-renewal was based on a policy-holder's lack of

          7  additional insurance with the company.

          8                 However, it is unclear what share of

          9  the non-renewals was composed of customers who held

         10  only one policy. While we applaud the Department's

         11  decision, cancelling policies based solely on home's

         12  reported vulnerability to weather is still

         13  permissible if the percentage of non-renewals is

         14  under four percent of the carrier's total insured

         15  properties in one year or 20 percent over five

         16  years.

         17                 Reso 438, a bill before the Committee

         18  today, highlights the lack of oversight surrounding

         19  certain policy cancellations and non-renewals and

         20  provides support to Senate Bill S.2269 introduced by

         21  Senator Klein, who is with us this morning.

         22                 State Senate Bill 2269 would reduce

         23  the percentage of policies that an insurer can

         24  cancel or refuse to renew without Department of

         25  Insurance approval to two percent in a single year
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          2  and to 10 percent over five years.

          3                 S.2269 would also require insurers to

          4  justify cancellation or non-renewals before the

          5  Department will grant approval.

          6                 The proposal will additional require

          7  the Department to study the profitability of the

          8  insurance industry and review the reasons and rates

          9  which insurance companies increase their premiums or

         10  terminate coverage in markets less impacted by

         11  natural disasters.

         12                 Again, I want to thank everyone for

         13  your presence this morning, and before we proceed, I

         14  would ask Council Member Gentile to make the

         15  statement in support of his resolution.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you. I

         17  would first like to start off by thanking

         18  Chairperson Comrie for his leadership in having this

         19  resolution heard in conducting this oversight

         20  hearing about the sudden increase of homeowner

         21  policy terminations in coastal areas of New York

         22  City.

         23                 I would also like to thank State

         24  Senator Jeff Klein for highlighting this issue and

         25  leading the charge in the State Senate to protect
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          2  vulnerable homeowners.

          3                 Today, we're here to discuss

          4  Resolution 430-A, which calls on the New York State

          5  Legislature to pass legislation that would lower the

          6  percentage of homeowners insurance policies that a

          7  company may cancel or refuse to renew without the

          8  approval of the New York State Insurance Department.

          9                 This resolution seeks to strengthen

         10  current State law, which regulates the insurance

         11  industry.

         12                 Last fall, my office was inundated

         13  with calls from residents who were unexpected

         14  cancelled or not renewed by their insurance provider

         15  for presiding in what the insurance agents have

         16  referred to as a coastal region. And certainly, I

         17  understand that my community residents were not

         18  alone. Rather, they were among more than 28,000

         19  households spanning from New York City, Westchester

         20  County and Long Island, who were either cancelled or

         21  not renewed by the Allstate Insurance Company for

         22  their proximity to coastal lines.

         23                 I understand that the communities I

         24  represent run adjacent to the Lower New York Bay.

         25  Yet, what I don't understand is that when this
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          2  insurance company initially insured these homeowners

          3  with their property situated in the very same

          4  location, location was not an issue.

          5                 Now, by their cancellations, Allstate

          6  Insurance Company has left decades-old policy

          7  holders unprotected and uninsured. Twenty-eight

          8  thousand policies represent less than four percent

          9  of Allstate Insurance Companies, total insured in

         10  New York State, and because it is below this four

         11  percent trigger, they do not need to report to the

         12  State Insurance Department regarding these

         13  cancellations.

         14                 No financial or actuarial rationale

         15  is required for dropping countless policy holders.

         16  Additionally, it was reported by the Independent

         17  Insurance Agents and brokers of New York that they

         18  weren't sure whether the market could safely absorb

         19  these policy holders left vulnerable by Allstate's

         20  Decision.

         21                 To our benefit, Senator Klein's bill

         22  would lower the total number of policies which could

         23  be cancelled without explanation in one year from

         24  four percent to two percent of the insured and from

         25  20 percent to ten percent over a five-year period.
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          2                 I would also require insurance to

          3  demonstrate potential risk or loss to justify such

          4  cancellations or non-renewals before approval would

          5  be granted by the Department.

          6                 These reforms, if enacted through the

          7  State Legislature, would undoubtedly strengthen the

          8  protections against the wanton behavior in the

          9  insurance industry.

         10                 And really the questions of ulterior

         11  motives arise, New York City is virtually in a

         12  low-risk area, and mass cancellations lead officials

         13  to feel that this may be more of a statement than a

         14  calculated risk, versus reward calculation.

         15                 While Allstate did not break any laws

         16  in their cancellation en mass, they did bring

         17  negative attention to this issue. And more recently,

         18  I'm thankful for the State Insurance Department led

         19  by Superintendent Eric Dinallo, who recently

         20  rendered the decision against Allstate and Liberty

         21  Mutual when they tried to cancel policies when the

         22  insurer did not have multiple policies from those

         23  companies.

         24                 This practice is not only immoral and

         25  unethical, but illegal, and it was thanks to the
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          2  State Insurance Department that a halt was put to

          3  this practice.

          4                 And while my resolution, Chairman,

          5  doesn't deal particularly with that practice, the

          6  resolution does support another way that

          7  legislatively we can help homeowners maintain the

          8  insurance on their homes.

          9                 I wanted to thank the Committee for

         10  hearing this issue today and thank Senator Klein for

         11  putting this forth in the State Senate. I urge my

         12  colleagues, if we should take a vote today, to vote

         13  in favor of this resolution.

         14                 Thank you, Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         16                 We've been joined by Councilman

         17  Oliver Koppell. Good morning. There is a Bronx

         18  meeting this morning and a State Legislative meeting

         19  also.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Yes, that's

         21  right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We are honored

         23  today to be joined by State Senator Jeff Klein, who

         24  has been a long-time advocate dealing with issues in

         25  this particular topic and also in banking and
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          2  commerce and finance in general, and I want to thank

          3  him for bringing forth this resolution, or bringing

          4  forth t his issue on a State level and thank him for

          5  everything that he's been doing.

          6                 I thought I had a bio for you, but

          7  it's not here right now. I wanted to praise you

          8  properly, so I'm just winging it from the top of

          9  where I stand, but clearly, you've been a

         10  forward-thinking, progressive person, dealing with

         11  the rights for consumers in the banking and

         12  insurance industry, and I want to thank you for

         13  being here this morning and I'll turn the floor over

         14  to you at this time.

         15                 SENATOR KLEIN: Thank you very much.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         17  before Senator Klein speaks, if I may, Mr. Chairman?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Sure.

         19                 SENATOR KLEIN: I just want to welcome

         20  Senator Klein here to the Council. He represents a

         21  significant part of my district in the Bronx and

         22  represents it well, and we're delighted to see him

         23  and I'm not surprised to see that he has some

         24  important legislation that I hope we'll give support

         25  to. Welcome.

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 SENATOR KLEIN: Thank you. I, too,

          3  want to thank Chairman Comrie, Council Member

          4  Gentile, and, of course, my Council Member Oliver

          5  Koppell, who I have the privilege of representing

          6  the great communities of Wood Lawn and Fieldston and

          7  North Riverdale with.

          8                 I want to thank each and every one of

          9  you for truly standing up today and trying to help

         10  the home owners of New York City, especially those

         11  who live in coastal communities.

         12                 I represent the 34th Senate District,

         13  which covers a section of the North Bronx, reaching

         14  from Riverdale to Throggsneck and from Morris Park

         15  to Woodlawn. I also represent a portion of Lower

         16  Westchester, including parts of Yonkers, Mount

         17  Vernon and New Rochelle and the towns of Pelham and

         18  Eastchester.

         19                 I again want to thank Chairman Comrie

         20  today and the members of the Committee on Consumer

         21  Affairs, for investigating the recent wave of home

         22  owner insurance cancellations in coastal regions of

         23  New York and for inviting me to speak here this

         24  morning.

         25                 We are here specifically to discuss
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          2  proposed Resolution No. 430-A, calling on New York

          3  State Legislature to pass legislation that would

          4  lower the percentage of home owner insurance

          5  policies that a company may cancel or refuse to

          6  renew without the approval of the New York State

          7  Insurance Department.

          8                 As a sponsor of this legislation and

          9  the New York State Senate, I urge the Committee and

         10  the entire Council to pass this resolution as

         11  quickly as possible, and send a message to both

         12  houses of the State Legislature that the magnitude

         13  of these ongoing policy cancellations is unjustified

         14  by scientific or financial evidence, and that the

         15  resulting hardship to homeowners and disruption to

         16  local insurance markets can no longer be ignored.

         17                 Since early 2006, residents of my

         18  34th Senate District and throughout the coastal

         19  communities of New York City, Westchester County and

         20  Long Island, have reported widespread non-renewals

         21  of home owner insurance policies as companies,

         22  particularly Allstate, have professed a desire to

         23  reduce their risk of exposure in these high-risk

         24  areas.

         25                 Coastal home owners who have paid
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          2  their premiums faithfully for decades and never

          3  filed a claim as suddenly too risky to ensure.

          4                 New York's relatively low-risk

          5  exposure for natural disasters, along with the

          6  continued coverage of homeowners who purchase

          7  additional insurance products, like auto insurance,

          8  have belied company's claims that our local homes

          9  cannot safely be insured.

         10                 The abrupt abandonment of relatively

         11  low-risk coastal insurance markets, like New York,

         12  makes little financial sense in the short-term.

         13                 I suspect that it is instead part of

         14  a long-term strategy by the insurance industry to

         15  scare the public and create a sufficient shortage of

         16  affordable coverage to compel the government to

         17  assume the risk of any future catastrophes for them.

         18                 In fact, after reading the dire

         19  predictions in their cancellation letters of my

         20  constituents, who were convinced that a category

         21  five hurricane was imminent.

         22                 These scare tactics and heavy-handed

         23  attempts to manipulate local insurance markets are

         24  what prompted me to reach out to the new

         25  Superintendent of New York State Insurance
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          2  Department, Eric Dinallo. I have had multiple

          3  meetings with Superintendent Dinallo and his staff

          4  in recent months to discuss these problems and

          5  determine what the State can do to help the affected

          6  homeowners.

          7                 On August 28th, the Department ruled

          8  that companies could no longer cancel policies based

          9  on the purchase of other lines of insurance.

         10  Renewing home owner policies of customers who also

         11  had auto insurance, while cancelling their neighbors

         12  who did not had become a widespread practice,

         13  despite State laws against the tying of different

         14  insurance products.

         15                 Last month, industry hold-out

         16  Allstate agreed to comply with the State law,

         17  bringing this particular consumer abuse to a close.

         18                 I am also working with the Insurance

         19  Department to determine if holders of cancelled

         20  policies are being steered to purchase more

         21  expensive coverage from entities with financial ties

         22  to the original insurers who are casting them

         23  adrift.

         24                 But these issues are secondary to the

         25  steady erosion of affordable home owner coverage in
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          2  our coastal communities.

          3                 Right now the major impediment to

          4  further Insurance Department oversight of these

          5  unscrupulous practices is lax State laws that allow

          6  insurers to cancel large numbers of policies each

          7  year with little or no justification.

          8                 Under current law, an insurance

          9  company can cancel up to four percent of its

         10  Statewide policies each year without having to gain

         11  the approval of the Insurance Department.

         12                 This can amount to thousands of

         13  policies for a large insurer and cause a major

         14  disruption in the local insurance market if an

         15  insurer targets all of its cancellations to a small

         16  geographic area.

         17                 In 2006 alone, Allstate issued

         18  non-renewal notices of 26,000 of its homeowner

         19  insurance policies in the coastal regions of New

         20  York City, Westchester County and Long Island,

         21  leaving those homeowners scrambling to secure

         22  alternate coverage.

         23                 My Senate Bill 2269 would have the

         24  amount that can be summarily cancelled to two

         25  percent and would require the insurer to provide a
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          2  financial risk or risk analysis justification for

          3  its cancellations.

          4                 New York's homeowners deserve

          5  insurance coverage that is dedicated by an

          6  even-handed assessment of their actuarial risk, not

          7  driven by scare tactics and industry collusion.

          8                 Please join me in helping to

          9  strengthen State laws governing policy cancellations

         10  and putting an end to these abuses once and for all.

         11                 I thank you, and I'd be happy to

         12  answer any questions about the investigation that

         13  took place or the impact on my district or the

         14  specific legislation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         16                 Since this is Councilman Gentile's

         17  bill, I will allow him the privilege of asking the

         18  first questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, we've been

         21  joined by Council Member John Liu, as well.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Again, thank you, Senator Klein, for

         25  being with us.
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          2                 I'm curious, because you said in your

          3  testimony, you seem to imply that the insurance

          4  companies might be doing this, the scare tactics

          5  either to increase their rates or to force the State

          6  to create a pool, their own?

          7                 SENATOR KLEIN: Well, just in the way

          8  of background, two years ago I started getting

          9  contacted on a daily basis by many of my

         10  constituents, specifically who lived in Edgewater

         11  Park, Silver Beach and City Island, all coastal

         12  communities, that they were not being renewed, and

         13  these were homeowners that clearly live on the water

         14  and they never put in a claim for 15, 20 years, they

         15  were long-time policy holders.

         16                 And when I went out to meet with this

         17  group, I found that others who live right next door

         18  to these homeowners who were not being renewed, also

         19  had their auto insurance with Allstate or Liberty or

         20  some of the other insurance companies, were being

         21  kept on.

         22                 And that initially I turned over to

         23  our new Superintendent of Insurance who did an

         24  outstanding job of investigating this and finding

         25  out that truly these companies were in violation of
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          2  State law.

          3                 What I think is happening here, and

          4  this is not only happening in New York State but

          5  across the country, clearly, a lot of the insurance

          6  companies, I believe, are trying to equate what

          7  happened in New Orleans, or what happened in

          8  Southern Florida to New York. Clearly, they had a

          9  tremendous amount of payouts over the last couple of

         10  years. So, I think what they're doing is trying to

         11  lobby effectively, nationally, to create some type

         12  of catastrophic damage fund, which, of course, the

         13  taxpayers would pay for, just in case there is some

         14  kind of another catastrophe in certain areas.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That would be

         16  a State-funded liquid --

         17                 SENATOR KLEIN: It would actually be

         18  more of a nationally funded, because I think they're

         19  clearly trying to, you know, make up for some losses

         20  in other places.

         21                 One of the things I do want to

         22  mention on this topic, Commissioner Dinallo came out

         23  with a proposal several weeks ago to create such a

         24  fund, except instead of being funded by taxpayer

         25  dollars, it would be money paid by the insurance

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  companies.

          3                 You know, clearly somebody lives in a

          4  coastal community, 15, 20 years, they never put in a

          5  claim, there should be some type of rainy day fund

          6  put aside so if indeed that person's property does

          7  suffer harm, the money would be there. So, in other

          8  words, this type of fund, which I'm not opposed to

          9  necessarily, but opposed to if the taxpayers are

         10  going to foot the bill.

         11                 I think it would be much better if we

         12  could have the insurance industry kind of put aside

         13  that money for damage. So, that's what I think is

         14  happening.

         15                 So, I think that's what we need to

         16  do, other than allow, as I said earlier, to create

         17  kind of these scare tactics.

         18                 You know, I'm not a scientist, but

         19  clearly I think thank God I don't think we're in the

         20  same predicament as some other coastal communities

         21  around the country where we're going to be hit by a

         22  devastated hurricane.

         23                 And I think the insurance companies,

         24  by clearly sort of keeping people who also had

         25  automobile insurance with them, sort of says that,
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          2  hey, it's not that risky, and I think what they're

          3  doing now is cherry-picking who they keep or who

          4  they cancel, which is against the law.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Now, would

          6  you have to do that legislatively, to create -- you

          7  could do that in New York State alone?

          8                 SENATOR KLEIN: We probably would need

          9  some legislation, but I'm not sure, I think probably

         10  the Superintendent of Insurance probably would be

         11  able to develop something within regulations, but

         12  there probably would be legislation. I think that

         13  really probably is the answer and the direction we

         14  should be going into.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Mr. Chairman,

         16  I just have one further question.

         17                 What has been the practical effect

         18  with your constituents, and I know some of mine, of

         19  this policy by Allstate and some of the other

         20  insurance companies? What have these homeowners been

         21  forced to do?

         22                 SENATOR KLEIN: That's an excellent

         23  question, Council member.

         24                 Clearly, you know, our job on this

         25  issue is not over. While, again, I give our
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          2  Superintendent a tremendous amount of credit for

          3  dealing with this immediate problem, now what I'm

          4  seeing, sort of the next step, the people who were

          5  cancelled, who were not renewed, are now being

          6  forced to pay a lot more for their homeowner

          7  insurance.

          8                 Most of the people I have spoken to

          9  have said now they're paying anywhere $200 to $500

         10  more a year, and this is the people who were

         11  cancelled before, or not renewed before Mr.

         12  Dinallo's action took place.

         13                 What we're also looking into, and

         14  this is something that I hear constantly in my

         15  community, is a lot of the people specifically who

         16  were not renewed from Allstate, and when they

         17  scrambled to get alternative home owner, a home

         18  owner policy, were told by their Allstate broker,

         19  and I don't know if anyone knows, but Allstate

         20  brokers only sell insurance for Allstate, were told

         21  to contact Tower Insurance, which to my knowledge

         22  there is no direct financial link, I hope not

         23  anyway, but clearly when they're forced or told to

         24  actually look into Tower Insurance, it's always more

         25  money, and, again, most of the time anywhere from
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          2  $200 to $500 more a year. So, I think that's the

          3  problem we need to look into now, besides the actual

          4  failure to renew.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well, again,

          6  thank you, Senator Klein, for this legislative

          7  action and this bill. And do we have a companion

          8  bill in the Assembly?

          9                 SENATOR KLEIN: I'm not sure. But I've

         10  had conversations with the Chair of Assembly

         11  Consumer Affairs Committee, Audrey Pfeffer, who is

         12  very interested, so I'm sure she'll carry the bill

         13  in the Assembly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Great.

         15                 Thank you, Senator.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         18                 Again, thank you for being here,

         19  Senator. And thank you for bringing this problem to

         20  light and showing the public and the general

         21  community that there is a real issue here.

         22                 As you said, and as I know has

         23  happened in my district, consumers are contacting us

         24  about the fact that their insurance companies are

         25  dropping them, even if they've never made a claim.
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          2  And especially since I represent a district that's

          3  in a low-flood area, where the aquifer and water

          4  table is rising every day, and getting a

          5  double-whammy of more intense rainfalls, higher --

          6  not enough seepage for the rain to go into, and also

          7  actually it's a triple whammy because we have areas

          8  where the sewers haven't been built out yet.

          9                 So, I have consumers that will make

         10  one claim an then get dropped, you know, and a lot

         11  of times they won't even process the claim, they

         12  will drop them first, and then reluctantly go back

         13  and try to deal with the issue at hand, but the

         14  consumer has already been considered removed from

         15  that insurance company.

         16                 I hope that that's another issue that

         17  we can look into on the State level also. I mean,

         18  they're actually dropping them before they resolve

         19  their issue that they bring before them.

         20                 Do you know how they come up with

         21  their percentage or they develop their threshold for

         22  dropping non-renewals or creating this non-renewal

         23  policy?

         24                 SENATOR KLEIN: As I said before, no

         25  insurance company can cancel any more than four
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          2  percent of their total policies in the State of New

          3  York, and I think what they do every time they fail

          4  to renew or cancel, they get dangerously close,

          5  about four percent. And I think that what they do is

          6  look at coastal communities.

          7                 Again, in this last wave, where again

          8  the Commissioner acted, I see some people within my

          9  district, it's not the most scientific study in the

         10  world, but certainly in my district where they

         11  weren't even in coastal communities, and they were

         12  not renewed.

         13                 But I will say one thing. I have yet

         14  to speak to any one of my constituents who was

         15  cancelled or not renewed and had both automobile

         16  insurance, as well as a homeowner policy with

         17  Allstate. It seems to be only the people who only

         18  have homeowner policies.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And then that's

         20  illegal --

         21                 SENATOR KLEIN: You see, I don't think

         22  there is any rhyme or reason and that's why one of

         23  the pieces of my legislation would require once and

         24  for all the insurance industry to actually give a

         25  cost benefit analysis, a real reason of why they
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          2  feel that homeowner is too much of a risk, to

          3  continue to be insured by that company.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And have the

          5  insurance companies, to your knowledge, put this

          6  area in a higher risk category at all, as far as is

          7  there something that they can do to claim there is a

          8  higher risk category in there?

          9                 SENATOR KLEIN: They say many of these

         10  communities are level three areas. I don't know the

         11  scientific background of, you know, how they came up

         12  with that conclusion.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, but they

         14  haven't formally done anything to the State

         15  Insurance Department or the State --

         16                 SENATOR KLEIN: Not to my knowledge,

         17  no.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And they couldn't

         19  claim that because the issues over whether or not

         20  they have a level three hurricane here is still

         21  unproven. Right now it's speculation and more fear

         22  of because of what happened with Katrina, but the

         23  fact of the matter, we haven't had a level 3

         24  hurricane since the 1950s.

         25                 SENATOR KLEIN: That's correct, Mr.
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          2  Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So for them to

          4  make that assumption is a little premature at best,

          5  and without any scientific facts and without any

          6  scientific facts it's all speculation as to weather,

          7  and as you know, we still haven't figured out what

          8  the weather patterns are going to be yet.

          9                 Are you aware of anyone that had to

         10  sell their home because of their inability to get

         11  insurance renewal?

         12                 SENATOR KLEIN: I haven't heard any

         13  case as drastic as that, but I have had several

         14  individuals that I have been working with in my

         15  district that it took a very long time before they

         16  were able to get another policy, until they were

         17  finally forced, as I said, to get a homeowner policy

         18  that was much more than the previous policy they

         19  had. And I think that's what probably caused them to

         20  take so long.

         21                 It seems that again, getting back to

         22  the Tower Insurance example --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         24                 SENATOR KLEIN: They seem to be

         25  willing to write a policy, but charge a homeowner a
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          2  hell of a lot more.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: More, okay.

          4                 And I've never heard of Tower

          5  Insurance. Have you heard of them before this

          6  process?

          7                 SENATOR KLEIN: No, I haven't.

          8                 It's interesting, when this all

          9  started, you know, originally, again, in my

         10  district, it started off with Allstate not renewing,

         11  and then Liberty Mutual willing to take over those

         12  policies at the same price. Then they backed away

         13  from the market as well because Allstate is truly a

         14  leader in homeowner policies. They have the largest

         15  number of policies in New York State homeowner

         16  policies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: In New York

         18  State, okay. Thank you.

         19                 We've been joined by Councilman Jim

         20  Gennaro.

         21                 Any other questions for Senator Klein

         22  from any of the members?

         23                 Okay, well, Senator, whatever we can

         24  do to help you with moving this on the State level,

         25  and Assembly Member Pfeffer is one of my Queens'
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          2  electeds, and she is the Chair of the State Consumer

          3  Affairs Committee, so we'll be sitting down and

          4  talking with her about it, and encouraging her to

          5  put in the companion bill on the Assembly level.

          6                 SENATOR KLEIN: Again, I appreciate

          7  the Committee for looking into this. This is truly a

          8  very important issue. I think it's incumbent upon

          9  all of us to make sure that it's still affordable to

         10  own a home in New York City and certainly insurance

         11  is a big piece of this. So, I look forward to

         12  working with you and really looking into some of

         13  these other matters, because I think it's very, very

         14  important that people should be able to in New York

         15  City as homeowners get affordable homeowner

         16  insurance.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And affordable

         18  homes, too.

         19                 SENATOR KLEIN: And affordable homes,

         20  too.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That way we can

         22  keep New York City residents in New York City and

         23  not running away Upstate. So...

         24                 SENATOR KLEIN: Absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I want to
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          2  thank you for taking the time out to be here this

          3  morning. I know you have a busy schedule and I

          4  appreciate your efforts in this matter.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 SENATOR KLEIN: My pleasure. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next we have

          9  Michael Moriarty, New York State Insurance

         10  Department.

         11                 I just want to note for the record,

         12  Thomas Ferrugia, our long-time Counsel, has left us

         13  and to move to greener pastures, unfortunately. I

         14  lost Thomas and my Legislative Analyst this year,

         15  now I've lost my Legislative Counsel, and you know,

         16  they're just going for -- people recognize their

         17  talent and they have stolen them right out from

         18  under me. So, we now have Damien Butvick, who is our

         19  new Legislative Policy Analyst, and I want to thank

         20  him and Ron Calandra.

         21                 I remembered your last name, Rob.

         22                 Rob Calandra is acting as my counsel

         23  for the Committee right now. So, with that I never

         24  got a chance to actually thank Thomas for his

         25  service to the Committee, so I'm just going to do it
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          2  now. He was a very stable and calm influence, and

          3  made sure that I had all the facts and all the legal

          4  background on all the issues, and I will miss his

          5  quiet and steady presence here on the Committee.

          6                 With that, Mr. Moriarty, thank you

          7  for being here this morning, and maybe you can start

          8  your presentation.

          9                 MR. MORIARTY: Well, thank you very

         10  much. It's a pleasure to be here. Superintendent

         11  Eric Dinallo does send his apologies for not being

         12  able to be here. He did have a conflict. But we

         13  would like to echo Senator Klein's sentiment that

         14  this is an important issue and we welcome the

         15  interest of the City Council on this issue.

         16                 I will concisely outline what the

         17  problem is, why the insurance companies are doing

         18  what they're doing, try to put some numbers around

         19  what's going on Statewide, and mostly Downstate,

         20  what the current rules are and where some companies

         21  have gone astray of those rules, and what the

         22  Insurance Department has done thus far, and other

         23  options that we may entertain in the future to try

         24  and bring stability back to the homeowners' market

         25  in the Downstate area.
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          2                 Again, as far as framing the issue,

          3  companies have been non-renewing certain homeowners

          4  in coastal areas. They include Nassau and Suffolk,

          5  where the bulk of the non-renewals have taken place.

          6  But they also include Brooklyn, Queens, Staten

          7  Island, Bronx and Westchester.

          8                 So far nearly 70,000 homeowners have

          9  been non-renewed. Our companies have told us that

         10  they plan to non-renew another about, between

         11  125,000 and 150,000 homeowners over the next three

         12  years.

         13                 That would bring the total to 200,000

         14  homeowners non-renewed over a four-year period. A

         15  bulk of these non-renewals has been done by one

         16  company, Allstate, which has the largest market

         17  share in the Downstate area.

         18                 Now, why are the companies

         19  non-renewing, and I think, you know, it's been

         20  alluded to already, but they are concerned about

         21  overexposure to natural catastrophes in certain

         22  areas.

         23                 Are those concerns valid? The New

         24  York Metropolitan area, along with New Orleans and

         25  Miami has been identified as the greatest at-risk
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          2  for a major hurricane, in terms of monetary damages.

          3  Meteorologists indicate that we are in the middle of

          4  a heightened hurricane cycle, and this is coupled

          5  with some uncertainty over the impact of global

          6  warming.

          7                 The concentrate of high real estate

          8  values here in the New York Metropolitan area would

          9  make a major New York storm extremely expensive and

         10  maybe dwarf some other storms that we have had.

         11                 The losses in Katrina and other

         12  storms have made insurers weary of concentrated risk

         13  and the increased cost of replacing property after a

         14  catastrophe.

         15                 As I think some of the members in the

         16  City Council have indicated, these are

         17  low-frequency, high-impact events, and somewhat

         18  difficult to gauge their frequency and how often

         19  they will come to ground. But nonetheless, they do

         20  reflect major risk to an insurance company's

         21  financial condition.

         22                 Now, how serious is the non-renewal

         23  problem here in New York? There are approximately

         24  1.7 million homes in the Metropolitan coastal area.

         25  As I indicated before, there could be approximately
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          2  200,000 homeowners non-renewed, which would

          3  represent 12 percent of the coastal market over

          4  four-year period, so you're talking about reductions

          5  of about three percent of the homeowners' market

          6  each year for the next four years.

          7                 Now, so far the people that have

          8  non-renewed have found insurance with another

          9  company, but it has been an increased cost.

         10                 I will touch on the rules. As Senator

         11  Klein indicated, companies are permitted under the

         12  insurance law to non-renew. They can't non-renew

         13  more than four percent a year of their entire

         14  Statewide business without the approval of the

         15  Superintendent. But for a big company like Allstate,

         16  four percent of their total New York business is a

         17  significant amount of homeowners.

         18                 In addition, because the homeowners'

         19  policy is a three-year policy under New York Law,

         20  they cannot non-renew any particular homeowner until

         21  the expiration of their three-year policy.

         22                 If there is any good news, it is that

         23  there is capacity in the insurance marketplace. In

         24  other words, other insurance companies will write a

         25  great majority of those that have been non-renewed.
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          2                 We know this because we have been

          3  monitoring what is known as the residual market and

          4  the ultimate market.

          5                 Under the New York Law there is a New

          6  York Property Insurance Underwriting Association.

          7  It's a residual market of last resort. If a New York

          8  homeowner cannot get coverage in the voluntary

          9  market, the New York property insurance underwriting

         10  association had to give them insurance, and we have

         11  not been seeing an increase in NYPUIA over the last

         12  couple of years.

         13                 We also have a Coastal Market

         14  Assistance Program, which is a voluntary program by

         15  our insurance companies, and homeowners that have

         16  difficulty in getting insurance are given a second

         17  look by this Coastal Market Assistance Program, and

         18  again, there has been some increase, but the

         19  increase has been measured.

         20                 And finally, there is what is known

         21  as the non-admit market. These are non-licensed

         22  companies that are permitted to do business in New

         23  York under certain circumstances, but there are a

         24  very small number of homeowners in the non-admitted

         25  market, less than one-half of one percent of the
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          2  total market, and they tend to be a high-end house,

          3  in terms of mansions and very expensive houses that

          4  go through such entities like Lloyds of London.

          5                 In sum, we see very few people that

          6  are being forced into the alternative markets. Most

          7  are getting insurance through normal channels. So,

          8  while the capacity is there, it is there at a higher

          9  price. People are paying more.

         10                 There are new estimates of

         11  catastrophe risks that are built into the insurance

         12  companies rating filings. The cost of reinsurance

         13  has doubled and reinsurance is essentially insurance

         14  for insurance companies, to the extent in Allstate

         15  or State Farm, who want to protect themselves

         16  against a major event, they would go out to the

         17  reinsurance market and get excess coverage, so that

         18  if a big event hit, that loss could be dispersed

         19  throughout the capital markets and the reinsurance

         20  market, and, again, that cost has doubled.

         21                 And, finally, the largest provider in

         22  Downstate was Allstate, and they were very

         23  aggressive on their rates. They were very

         24  competitive on their rates, and when they started to

         25  pull back, these homeowners were left with carriers
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          2  who had rates at a higher level than Allstate did.

          3                 The New York Insurance Department

          4  does not set homeowners rates. It's what they call

          5  file and use. If a company wants to change its

          6  rating structure, it files it with the Insurance

          7  Department and they're permitted to use it. There is

          8  no prior approval as there is for certain other

          9  lines of business.

         10                 But companies do generally check with

         11  the Insurance Department before they begin to use a

         12  rate, and we can informally have a dialogue with

         13  them when we see big increases, where we see things

         14  that we don't understand and frequently some of the

         15  rates are tempered downward. But we do have no

         16  absolute power. It is a file and use system under

         17  the current statute.

         18                 We are concerned about artificially

         19  lower prices, because we think that that could

         20  impact availability. We think the most important

         21  thing is that people are able to protect their

         22  biggest assets. We do see competition in the

         23  marketplace. But given the real risk out there, we

         24  are likely to see more price increases. Or to put it

         25  another way, I don't think the prices will be going
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          2  down, as it's becoming more expensive to live in

          3  coastal areas.

          4                 Now, the role of the government on

          5  prices. We do get complaints and anecdotal stories

          6  about homeowners have been cancelled, and, you know,

          7  we do think there is a role of the government to

          8  consider ways to help people, for instance, on fixed

          9  income and they can't afford a ten or 20 percent

         10  increase in their homeowners' renewal rates, and

         11  these are people who have lived in these homes for

         12  decades. We are not convinced that the entire

         13  homeowners market needs to be subsidized.

         14                 What the Insurance Department has

         15  done about the problem to date, as Senator Klein

         16  indicated, we did tell both Allstate and Liberty

         17  Mutual that they cannot tie. In other words, they

         18  can't coerce consumers to buy other insurance in

         19  order to keep homeowners.

         20                 We have allowed insurance companies

         21  to use what is known as Hurricane Wind Storm

         22  Deductibles. This makes it, number one, more

         23  attractive for the companies to stay in the market,

         24  as the degree of risk that they would be subject to

         25  a hurricane is lessened, and it also keeps prices
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          2  low, lower for the consumer.

          3                 Now, the flip side of it is if there

          4  is an event, the consumer would have that higher

          5  deductible that they would have to fund themselves.

          6                 And finally, we are proposing that

          7  companies keeps a portion of each annual premium in

          8  a catastrophe reserve. I think Senator Klein

          9  referred to it as a rainy day reserve. To the extent

         10  that insurance companies take a piece of the premium

         11  to fund catastrophes. If there is not a catastrophe

         12  in a single year, we don't think that that part of

         13  the premium should go directly into the insurance

         14  company's profit, rather we think it should be set

         15  up in a contingent liability and built up over time

         16  so that there is something there if a major event

         17  does hit Downstate New York area.

         18                 What more can we do about the

         19  problem? We can make the residual market mechanism

         20  permanent. Right now the New York Property Insurance

         21  Underwriting Association exists under statute, I

         22  think it's a biannual basis, that would have to be

         23  renewed by the Legislature every two years. And we

         24  think it's a good idea to have a residual market in

         25  the back stop, in the event that there are more
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          2  homeowners that are non-renewed and can't get

          3  coverage in the voluntary market.

          4                 We could increase participation in

          5  the Coastal Market Assistance Program. Right now we

          6  have 40 percent of the companies voluntarily

          7  participate. If more companies participated in this

          8  program, that might help some consumers who have

          9  been non-renewed.

         10                 Finally, we consider amending the

         11  four percent limit that is the subject of Senator

         12  Klein's proposal. We do think we need to be somewhat

         13  careful, because it could have unintended

         14  consequences. Companies and their capital may not

         15  come in if they can't get out of the marketplace.

         16                 But we remain open to work with the

         17  Senator and work with the Assembly in looking at

         18  various options in order to assess what is a problem

         19  going on currently. And certainly we would not be

         20  adverse to getting more information as a regulator

         21  from companies that intend to embark upon a

         22  non-renewal program and examine the regions, as to

         23  why they feel they need to do this.

         24                 Again we recognize this is a problem.

         25  You know, it could be worse. It would be bad if the
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          2  non-renewed homeowners would not be able to get

          3  coverage, and it would be bad if they got coverage

          4  with a company that eventually went financially

          5  insolvent because of an event. But nonetheless, the

          6  non-renewal of virtually 200,000 people is an issue

          7  that concerns the Insurance Department. We will

          8  continue to monitor the situation, are open to

          9  further solutions, and we will assist any consumer

         10  that gets non-renewed to secure new coverages.

         11                 So, if any of your constituents

         12  complain to your office, please feel free to give us

         13  a call and we will do what we can to assist in

         14  getting that homeowner new coverage with a reputable

         15  carrier.

         16                 That concludes my testimony, and I'd

         17  be willing to take questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         19                 We have been joined by Charles

         20  Barron. I turned off the mic by mistake. I remember

         21  your name.

         22                 We are not going to be voting on the

         23  resolution today. We're just having the first

         24  hearing on the resolution today, just to let the

         25  members know.
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          2                 I want to thank you for coming again,

          3  Mr. Moriarty.

          4                 You talked about the pool insurance,

          5  is there a maximum rate for the pool insurance? How

          6  does the general homeowner know about it?

          7                 MR. MORIARTY: Are you talking about

          8  the residual market mechanism?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The residual

         10  market.

         11                 MR. MORIARTY: There is an approved

         12  rate for a residual market and it is materially

         13  higher than that in the voluntary market, up to 20

         14  percent higher than what a homeowner could get from,

         15  from the voluntary market. It is always our goal to

         16  keep the participation in the residual market as

         17  small as possible and have the voluntary market

         18  underwrite the homeowners, because it's better for

         19  various reasons.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And once they're

         21  in that pool, can that pool still do the four

         22  percent disqualification of a renewal?

         23                 MR. MORIARTY: No, they can't. Once

         24  you're in the pool, the pool, it's the insurer of

         25  last resort. They must offer the coverage through
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          2  the homeowners. And that tends to explain why the

          3  rate is higher.

          4                 Some of the risk in there are the

          5  higher risk homeowners, and they pay more premium

          6  because of that risk. But they cannot be non-renewed

          7  in the assigned risk plan.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But once a

          9  homeowner is in that pool, how do they get out? Do

         10  they have to continue to shop for a lower rate on

         11  their own? Or can they go back to Allstate in a year

         12  and a half and say, you know, we've done whatever?

         13                 MR. MORIARTY: That's a very good

         14  question and it's something that we're looking into,

         15  because there has been some assertions that once you

         16  get into the pool, you can never get out, you know,

         17  Hotel California kind of thing. And arguably they

         18  should be able to get out.

         19                 Some of the reasons that a voluntary

         20  market would not want a homeowner is because of

         21  their credit history, because they're job history,

         22  because they never had a home before. But,

         23  obviously, as you do gain experience in terms of

         24  being a homeowner and committing less claims, you

         25  should be able to go to the voluntary market and
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          2  make a stab at getting coverage with one of the

          3  voluntary companies.

          4                 But it is something that we're

          5  looking at because there are assertions it's hard to

          6  get out of there.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. Okay.

          8                 And their rates are normally, what,

          9  seven to 12 percent higher than the voluntary

         10  market?

         11                 MR. MORIARTY: It could be as high as

         12  20 percent higher than the voluntary market.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         14                 And, again, they were pushed out of

         15  the voluntary market, solely at the discretion of

         16  the market.

         17                 If a person winds up having a problem

         18  with payment to a voluntary provider, but they make

         19  the payment whole, does the State insurance company

         20  make that voluntary provider stay with that

         21  constituent?

         22                 MR. MORIARTY: There are rules that if

         23  the homeowner does not pay after a certain amount of

         24  time, after 90 days, that the company can non-renew

         25  the homeowner.
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          2                 But we can interject ourselves and if

          3  there are valid reasons why the homeowner had

          4  difficulty in making that payment, insurance

          5  companies are more often than not willing to listen

          6  to those, and, again, we can interject through our

          7  Consumer Services Bureau and entertain a dialogue

          8  with the company and the homeowners, and we do that

          9  all the time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you mentioned

         11  the Coastal Market Assistance Program. Can you tell

         12  us a little bit more about that? Is that a State

         13  developed program? Or is that a voluntary market?

         14                 MR. MORIARTY: It's done by the

         15  voluntary market at our behest. And my understanding

         16  is that you make an application through the Coastal

         17  Market Assistance Program, and that application is

         18  kind of shopped around the companies that

         19  participate in this program. And what these

         20  companies are doing is volunteering to take a second

         21  look at that risk to see if it could be underwritten

         22  throughout this second round. And it has worked

         23  pretty well in terms of securing coverage in the

         24  voluntary market for hundreds of homeowners.

         25                 And we're more than willing to
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          2  entertain an effort to expand that program so that

          3  people who have been non-renewed perhaps could go

          4  right to the CMAP program and look to secure

          5  coverages.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          7                 But that's not the same as the flood

          8  insurance that's being offered. I've noticed there

          9  are separate commercials for separate flood

         10  insurance, that's not the same thing as the Coastal

         11  Market Program?

         12                 MR. MORIARTY: No, that's a separate

         13  issue.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         15                 So, the Coastal Market Assistance

         16  Program just asks the volunteer insurers to take

         17  another look at the persons on situations. Hopefully

         18  it will give them the rates, or original rates or

         19  higher rates than they would offer under direct

         20  one-on-one contact?

         21                 MR. MORIARTY: They would offer the

         22  rates that they have on file with the Insurance

         23  Department.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And do you

         25  have an idea on how many people were assisted by
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          2  that program?

          3                 MR. MORIARTY: Actually, I do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Or actually both

          5  programs that you mentioned.

          6                 MR. MORIARTY: There are approximately

          7  45,000 homeowners in the New York Property Insurance

          8  Underwriting Association, and 456 homeowners were

          9  served by the Coastal Market Assistance Program this

         10  year, which is up from 364 from last year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And are these

         12  programs marketed by your office or is it -- how

         13  would a constituent know about either one of these

         14  programs?

         15                 MR. MORIARTY: I believe there is

         16  information on our website in terms of the CMAP

         17  program and the NYPUIA, but I can confirm that. And

         18  I know that a, we do issue publications which go

         19  over these programs for consumers that are on our

         20  website. And, of course, anybody can call the New

         21  York Insurance Department. We would be happy to

         22  provide information to them or to your respective

         23  offices so that you can have them on hand in terms

         24  of when you get calls from constituents.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That would be
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          2  helpful. I'm sure we would help you promote it also,

          3  because we have constituents that do call us on a

          4  regular basis and talk about their insurance

          5  policies and they're questioning their policies.

          6                 Just generally, do you hold monthly,

          7  or yearly open meetings so that the public can find

          8  out about your programs and services?

          9                 MR. MORIARTY: In 2006, we did have a

         10  hearing as this coastal issue had started to bubble

         11  at the beginning of 2006. We do hold hearings on

         12  topical issues. I can't say we've held homeowners

         13  meetings every year, but clearly this is an issue

         14  that will continue over the next two years, and I

         15  would think that there will be various proposals,

         16  legislative proposals, regulatory proposals or

         17  concerns raised by other interested parties that we

         18  will have to address and there very well may be

         19  hearings and should there be, of course, we will

         20  extend invitations to members of the City Council.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. I

         22  appreciate that.

         23                 And you must have homeowner insurance

         24  on your home, just as a layman's point of view, I

         25  know for -- your mortgage company normally wants you
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          2  to have homeowner insurance. I know when I got my

          3  mortgage, they, in fact, told me that I just

          4  couldn't get any insurance, I had to get an

          5  insurance that was rated at a particular level and

          6  approved by them. But is there a State law to have

          7  home owner insurance or a City law?

          8                 MR. MORIARTY: Well, I think the

          9  condition for getting a mortgage, essentially you

         10  would need a homeowners policy. Outside of that, I

         11  don't believe that there is a requirement. But,

         12  again, the home does represent most people's biggest

         13  asset, and clearly we would recommend that it be

         14  prudent to secure homeowners coverage and flood

         15  coverage, which can cause a lot of damage to homes,

         16  and it's relatively cheap and available from the

         17  federal government.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, great. But,

         19  again, it's not a

         20  State law, it's just good common sense to protect

         21  the largest asset.

         22                 MR. MORIARTY: That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And most mortgage

         24  companies do make it part of your mortgage

         25  compliance to have one in place.
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          2                 MR. MORIARTY: That's correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Gentile has a couple

          5  of questions.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman.

          8                 I'm wondering, if a company cancels a

          9  homeowner from the voluntary market, they're not

         10  required to inform the homeowner about these other

         11  programs, the CMAP or the Property Insurance

         12  Underwriters Association?

         13                 MR. MORIARTY: I misspoke, they are

         14  required to.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: They are

         16  required to tell?

         17                 MR. MORIARTY: Yes. In other words, in

         18  the cancellation, it's a non-renewal notice, they

         19  will give that information to the homeowners.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, they're

         21  not just left with having to go to your website?

         22                 MR. MORIARTY: That's correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: They're told

         24  how to do it?

         25                 MR. MORIARTY: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That's

          3  correct.

          4                 MR. MORIARTY: I think some of the

          5  concerns that have been raised that are from our

          6  consumer services folks, is that, you know, when the

          7  homeowner begins to read a non-renewal notice, first

          8  they're all upset, obviously, because of the fact

          9  that they're being non-renewed and some of them are

         10  elderly and they don't quite understand some of the

         11  direction given in the non-renewal notice, but they

         12  are required to notify the homeowner of these

         13  options that are available to us, and our number is

         14  put on a non-renewal notice.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Great.

         16                 Now, as far as the rainy day reserve,

         17  which would be a portion of the premium paid, are

         18  you able, as the Department, to require that for

         19  those doing business in New York State?

         20                 MR. MORIARTY: Yes. We believe we can

         21  do this by regulation, which would not require

         22  legislative action, and we have put out a draft

         23  proposal, out to interested parties in order to get

         24  feedback, and there have been some assertion that

         25  we're not sure we have the statutory authority, but
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          2  some of our lawyers disagree with that, and we

          3  intend to pursue this.

          4                 We have gotten interest from other

          5  states that believe that this is a good idea, and I

          6  think if something was done on a national basis, it

          7  would make that fun more robust, to be able to

          8  address -- obviously it would be built up more

          9  because there would be premiums from various

         10  localities, and it could address catastrophes around

         11  the country. But nonetheless, just from a conceptual

         12  point of view, to the extent that a New York

         13  homeowner is paying cat load and there is no

         14  catastrophe, I think it's prudent for the company to

         15  maintain a reserve for when there is a catastrophe.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Agreed.

         17  Agreed.

         18                 Now, are you aware of any other state

         19  that is requiring such reserve?

         20                 MR. MORIARTY: I know both

         21  Massachusetts and New Jersey have expressed interest

         22  to our Department to do so.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Great. I

         24  think that should be the wave of the future then.

         25                 Mr. Chairman, I think you covered the
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          2  rest of it so I will say thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Koppell has questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          6                 Right now the State law says that if

          7  they want to cancel more than four percent they have

          8  to get permission from the Department, correct?

          9                 MR. MORIARTY: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Has that ever

         11  happened?

         12                 MR. MORIARTY: Not to my knowledge.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If that

         14  happened, or if the Klein bill passed, and it was

         15  two percent, what would be the criteria that the

         16  Department would use, if, in fact, they met the two

         17  percent threshold and then they had to come to you.

         18                 How would you respond when they came

         19  and they said we want to cancel Koppell, what would

         20  you do?

         21                 MR. MORIARTY: I would say don't

         22  cancel Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, but

         24  really what could you do?

         25                 MR. MORIARTY: Well, what we would ask
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          2  for is basically a detailed summary of their basis

          3  for cancelling the policy that they want to cancel,

          4  which would include some historical data on losses.

          5  Many large insurers employ computer models, which

          6  try to price the cost of a storm along various

          7  paths, in addition to severity of the storms,

          8  information like that. But we'd have to get our arms

          9  around it.

         10                 There's I guess a quantifiable basis

         11  for doing what they're doing.

         12                 I mean, I put on one hat, I mean

         13  Allstate is making money on Long Island. They are

         14  cutting these homeowners that have been profitable,

         15  and so you've got to think that there is some

         16  veracity to their contention that they're concerned

         17  about concentration.

         18                 But that being said, again, it can't

         19  be just because we've read that there could be a

         20  hurricane this year, and we're scared about it. It

         21  has to be a bit more scientific and quantifiable

         22  than that.

         23                 And, furthermore, you know, I think

         24  we looked for what has been termed "soft landings."

         25  You know, some of these homeowners have non-renewal
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          2  coverages in the mail, their computer generated

          3  letters, they don't have a lot of empathy to them,

          4  in terms of explaining what's happening. Perhaps a

          5  call from the producer before the letter came with

          6  an assurance that there will be assistance in

          7  placing them, and that type of kind of remedial

          8  plans to direct to the homeowner that they've

          9  identified that will be cancelled going forward.

         10                 I mean, those are just some things

         11  off the top of my head if we were given the

         12  authority to look at these types of plans we would

         13  look for.

         14                 And that being said, you know, we

         15  also want to get prior notice of plans. Many

         16  companies have told us ahead of time, quite frankly,

         17  but we don't want to be caught flatfooted when we

         18  start to hear the reports or read in Newsday, you

         19  know, there is a wave of non-renewals and that

         20  dialogue we think is important to have with the

         21  insurance companies so we could better understand

         22  what they're doing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I do

         24  understand that. I'm just concerned that the

         25  customers or the constituents will go from
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          2  complaining, saying it's the insurance company's

          3  fault to saying now it's the State's fault, if they

          4  come to you and you approve it based on just sort of

          5  a general assessment of risk. And I think that maybe

          6  the better way to go would be to have some sort of

          7  back-up fund, maybe funded by the companies, and

          8  maybe not just company-by-company, but a general

          9  fund that would then step in where there was a

         10  tremendous disaster. I don't know.

         11                 But I'm concerned that if we pass

         12  this legislation, I'm not opposed to it, but as I

         13  say, the blame will now just go from the insurance

         14  company to the State, if they have to come to you to

         15  get permission, and you just say, well, okay, I

         16  understand, the climate is changing. And I think it

         17  is changing, although this year, fortunately, it

         18  seems to be less severe. But in any event, that is a

         19  concern that I would have, if we rely on this

         20  mechanism.

         21                 By the way, if the insurance company

         22  goes out of business, is there a protection like for

         23  other insurance where the State insurance fund takes

         24  over?

         25                 MR. MORIARTY: There's a guarantee
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          2  fund. So that any companies that are put into

          3  liquidation, the other consumers would be protected,

          4  I think it's up to a million dollars per claim for

          5  any claim that the insolvent company wasn't able to

          6  pay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The other

          8  thing is, if they make the continuation of homeowner

          9  insurance contingent on having other kinds of

         10  insurance, like car insurance, isn't that per se a

         11  violation of the anti-trust law, or is that not a

         12  per se violation anymore?

         13                 MR. MORIARTY: Well, the Department

         14  has opined that if you're using the fact that you

         15  have another policy as a basis for not renewing, for

         16  renewing a homeowner, that that's not allowed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         19                 Is it a matter of public record or

         20  disclosed to the other insurers if Allstate drops

         21  the person? Or if they decide to drop a client, do

         22  they put it out on public record, or can you, you

         23  know, shop without having fear of the fact that the

         24  other insurers know that you were dropped by a

         25  voluntary insurer?
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          2                 MR. MORIARTY: My understanding is

          3  that the competitors do not know that the homeowner

          4  has been dropped. I think just as a practical

          5  matter, the new agent or the broker might very well

          6  ask, and I think there has been so many of them that

          7  the broker community out there knows that there's a

          8  population looking for new insurance companies.

          9                 But I think that these homeowners

         10  have not been black balled. This is almost an

         11  arbitrary decision. The companies have indicated to

         12  us that they're not bad risk in and of themselves,

         13  it's just that they're too concentrated in areas

         14  that we're concerned about a probable maximum law

         15  should there an event happen. And I think that's

         16  part of the reason that many of these homeowners

         17  have been able to secure coverage quickly, and again

         18  it's at more cost because, quite frankly, most

         19  companies charge more than Allstate that were very

         20  aggressive in pricing in the early part of this

         21  decade.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And are they in

         23  general, Allstate, moving out of the insurance,

         24  homeowner insurance  focus, or is it just that

         25  they're moving out of coastal areas, in your
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          2  estimation?

          3                 MR. MORIARTY: Oh, no, they're not

          4  even moving out of the coastal area. They're

          5  reducing their exposures in the coastal area.

          6                 There probably still our biggest

          7  homeowners writers on Long Island. I think they

          8  wanted to go from something like 26 to 21 percent on

          9  the Island. I don't know. But they're not leaving

         10  the marketplace at all.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right.

         12                 I want to thank you for coming down

         13  this morning and spending some time with us and

         14  giving that information. You can tell the

         15  Superintendent thank you for sending you and sharing

         16  with us your background and knowledge today.

         17                 MR. MORIARTY: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I hope to be able

         19  to call on your office to get that information so

         20  that I can send it out to my constituents and

         21  hopefully do a meeting, some kind of public meeting

         22  to let people know about their insurance options.

         23                 A lot of people don't realize that

         24  they can utilize, even those two programs that you

         25  mentioned, the Coastal Program and the pool, and

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  that will be very helpful to a lot of people.

          3                 MR. MORIARTY: I will be happy to do

          4  it. I will leave you my card and perhaps we could

          5  set up a protocol so that, you know, we give you the

          6  information that you need to give to your

          7  constituents, and they would know that we're the

          8  backstop that would be available, should they have

          9  further questions on that.

         10                 I will be happy to work with your

         11  office on that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. Thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 Next we have Gary Henning from the

         15  American Insurance Association.

         16                 Whenever you're ready, you can begin.

         17                 MR. HENNING: Good morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you for

         19  being here.

         20                 MR. HENNING: Thank you, Chairperson

         21  Comrie.

         22                 Good morning.

         23                 My name is Gary Henning. I'm an

         24  Assistant Vice President of the American Insurance

         25  Association. Thank you for this opportunity to
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          2  discuss our views with you today.

          3                 AIA is a national trade association

          4  of more than 350 property and casualty insurers.

          5  AIA's members have a strong commitment to New York

          6  State. Last year they wrote over 1.1 million dollars

          7  in homeowners premiums in New York alone,

          8  representing nearly 31 percent of the Citywide

          9  Homeowners Insurance premiums.

         10                 You have my written testimony. What I

         11  thought I would do is hit some highlights but also

         12  address some of the issues that have been brought up

         13  by the previous presenters.

         14                 One issue I'd like to address.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm not sure if

         16  your mic is on. I think it's on.

         17                 It is on? Okay.

         18                 MR. HENNING: It's on.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Bring it a

         20  little closer.

         21                 MR. HENNING: Okay, sorry. Is that

         22  better?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         24                 MR. HENNING: I heard a couple of

         25  times New York City as being a low-risk area, in
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          2  terms of a hurricane, and while we're certainly not

          3  going to see the frequency of hurricanes in New York

          4  State that you'll see on the southern coast of the

          5  United States, or the Gulf Coast. We still are going

          6  to get a hurricane every now and then. And as Deputy

          7  Superintendent Moriarty mentioned, these are low

          8  frequency, high severity events.

          9                 So, by asking carriers to basically

         10  ignore the possibility of a hurricane, you're

         11  basically asking the company, the companies, to be

         12  their solvency on there not being a hurricane.

         13                 And I just wanted to --

         14  Superintendent Dinallo did a presentation at a --

         15  presented at a hearing a couple of weeks ago, and I

         16  just wanted to -- so, I have to give them credit for

         17  these figures, but the great storm of -- this is a

         18  quote from them: "On the great storm of 1938..."

         19  that's the Long Island Express, or whatever you want

         20  to call it, "... the latest data that we have, which

         21  I will share with you, is that it would do an

         22  estimated $100 billion in total damage today, with

         23  $45 billion in insured damage in the tristate area."

         24                 So, you know, while we're certainly

         25  not having hurricanes every year, it's just prudent
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          2  financial management by the companies to assume that

          3  a hurricane could happen and take steps to protect

          4  themselves against that eventuality.

          5                 Another issue that Senator Klein

          6  brought up, saying that we're somehow conspiring to

          7  and denying people so we can have the government

          8  form a national catastrophe fund, that is

          9  categorically false. The American Insurance

         10  Association, and most of the other property casualty

         11  insurers are adamantly opposed to government

         12  involvement in the property market in the United

         13  States.

         14                 We believe, other than flood, let me

         15  for the record make sure -- we are in favor of the

         16  national flood insurance program, but in terms of

         17  everything else for property, we believe that there

         18  is sufficient capacity in the market, that the

         19  private market can take care of it, and we have

         20  opposed on the federal level national catastrophe

         21  funds.

         22                 Now, there is the question or the

         23  issue that's being addressed at this hearing today,

         24  is the termination of policy holders. Now, yes, it's

         25  true, policy holders have been being non-renewed.
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          2  However, as I think most of the other, the other

          3  speakers have said, these policy holders are finding

          4  coverage through other companies, and we would argue

          5  that that's how the market is supposed to work.

          6                 Companies will look at their

          7  exposures and make business decisions. Again, it's

          8  not, as Deputy Superintendent Moriarty said, it's

          9  not really -- it's not so much, many times it's not

         10  so much what a person did or didn't do, it's just

         11  the fact that he happens to be in an area where a

         12  company feels they have too much concentration of

         13  risk, which is why they're non-renewed.

         14                 But I think what's particularly

         15  illustrative here of the state of the market is this

         16  residual market, NYPUIA, that the Deputy

         17  Superintendent talked about, if people are getting

         18  non-renewed and not getting coverage, you would

         19  expect an uptick in this market of last resort.

         20                 Now, I looked at the statistics for

         21  NYPUIA's policies in force, using September 2005 as

         22  a baseline which would be right around, just after

         23  Katrina, until September 30th, 2007, and what I

         24  found for New York City was that in the Bronx there

         25  is 295 fewer NYPUIA policies, 1,091 fewer policies
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          2  in Brooklyn, 156 fewer policies in Manhattan, slight

          3  uptick in Queens, let me see, 16 policies extra in

          4  Queens over two years, and a 13 policy decrease in

          5  Staten Island.

          6                 So, what these numbers suggest is

          7  that while people are getting non-renewed, they are

          8  finding coverage in the private market. And I think

          9  Deputy Superintendent Moriarty did a pretty good job

         10  explaining why particularly the Allstate policy

         11  holders are experiencing increases in prices,

         12  because Allstate was aggressively going after market

         13  share, undercutting everyone on price, so when they

         14  decide that they had to reduce their exposure in the

         15  coastal areas, these people, while they could get

         16  coverage, they had to turn to other carriers who

         17  were not as aggressively pricing.

         18                 Another issue I'd like to address is

         19  that I keep hearing, and not just at this hearing,

         20  but in the press, the media accounts, there is the

         21  complaint, policy holder has been with the company

         22  for 15, 20 years, never filed a claim and is still

         23  cancelled.

         24                 Now, that fundamentally misstates the

         25  insurance relationship. When you're buying
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          2  insurance, you're paying for coverage for that year.

          3  It's not a savings account or an annuity. And as I

          4  think was mentioned before, you don't necessarily

          5  have to do anything wrong, you just fit the wrong

          6  risk profile for that company's business model at

          7  that point in time.

          8                 You know, I've heard people got

          9  coverage 15 years ago and it was on the coast,

         10  what's changed? Well, what's changed is the business

         11  model, the business decisions that the company has

         12  made. You know, the science on hurricanes has been

         13  changing.

         14                 Actually, after Katrina, Katrina was

         15  one big testing laboratory on the insurance carriers

         16  hurricane models, because they could actually go in

         17  and look how much they had to pay out in claims, and

         18  compare that to what the modeling predicted prior to

         19  the hurricane, and what they found out was that

         20  their modeling showed losses about half as much as

         21  actually, was actually occurring. So, with more

         22  hurricane experience, you know, better science, the

         23  models change and the business decisions change. So,

         24  that's why people who may have been with the company

         25  a long time may get non-renewed.
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          2                 And then, I'd like to quickly address

          3  the four percent legislation.

          4                 The American Insurance Association is

          5  strongly opposed to the four percent legislation,

          6  where we would be required to get, an insurance

          7  company would be required to get Insurance

          8  Department approval prior to non-renewing four

          9  percent or more of its book of business in any one

         10  rating territory.

         11                 I know for at least one of my members

         12  out in Suffolk, actually I should say the rating

         13  territories aren't necessarily a county, they can be

         14  parts of counties, and can be rather small.

         15                 I know for one company he told me

         16  four percent of his book of business in one of the

         17  Long Island rating territories was about a dozen

         18  policies.

         19                 So, you would have to go through the

         20  whole thing to deal with 12 policies, but I think

         21  this requirement would be counterproductive for the

         22  policy holder community at large.

         23                 If additional restrictions are placed

         24  on how many insurance companies can allocate their

         25  capital, in the New York State marketplace, the
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          2  companies will be less willing to allocate the

          3  capital here in the first place.

          4                 So, while you may be protecting the

          5  policy holders, vis-a-vis their current insurers,

          6  you're just going to make it harder for people who

          7  will be looking for insurance in the future because

          8  the carriers will not be wanting to come into the

          9  market.

         10                 Because it's not just a New York

         11  marketplace. I'm an insurance company. If I'm a

         12  stock company, I have capital, I need to make a

         13  business decision where to allocate my capital. If I

         14  can go to New York where I have all sorts of

         15  restrictions on how I get in and out of the market,

         16  or I can go to another jurisdiction where there is

         17  freer movement of capital, probably go to the other

         18  jurisdictions. So, you have to be careful, because

         19  if you make the New York market so unattractive to

         20  the insurers that they restrict their availability,

         21  you're just going to make the situation worse. As

         22  Superintendent Dinallo said, you know, beware of the

         23  unintended consequences.

         24                 And just one example of what can

         25  happen if you start meddling around, I shouldn't say
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          2  meddling, but too much involvement in the

          3  homeowners' marketplace, in Florida, you know, they

          4  get a lot of hurricanes, they were facing some of

          5  the same problems, non-renewals, so they put all

          6  sorts of restrictions on who could do what and what

          7  you could charge, trying to cap the premiums that

          8  the company's could charge, and as a result the

          9  private market, homeowners market in Florida is

         10  shriveling up and going away.

         11                 Right now the residual market, the

         12  market of last resort, Citizens' Insurances insures

         13  50 percent of all of the homeowners in Florida. Now,

         14  why is this important? This is important because if

         15  you have a big hurricane season, Citizens, as the

         16  market of last resort, is going to be on the hook

         17  for the billions of dollars of losses, and the way

         18  they have that in Florida being paid is assessments

         19  on policy holders, which could turn out, if you have

         20  two or three hurricanes in one season, homeowners,

         21  auto, commercial policies, all could be assessed

         22  thousands of dollars. So, you have to be careful.

         23  You'd rather have the private market picking that up

         24  rather than the taxpayer. So, I urge you to take a

         25  look at what's happened in Florida.
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          2                 And let me just check. And I guess

          3  the final thing I just wanted to say is that, while

          4  we oppose the four percent legislation, we do

          5  understand that, you know, the cancellations,

          6  cancellation of a policy where the insured has been

          7  with the company for many years can be problematic

          8  or troubling to the insured.

          9                 We have tried to work with the

         10  Legislature and the Insurance Department on other

         11  pieces of legislation that increase availability and

         12  help affordability, you know, working on such things

         13  as mitigation efforts and what have you. So, we do

         14  understand that there is a problem.

         15                 But we would just caution you that if

         16  you start meddling in the market mechanics, it could

         17  make, exacerbate the situation rather than help.

         18                 So, with that, I'll conclude. Thank

         19  you, again, for the opportunity to testify, and I'd

         20  be glad to take any questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I don't

         22  want to meddle, but I do have some questions.

         23                 You know, I think that we have a

         24  responsibility to try to help our homeowners that we

         25  get calls when they get dropped, and don't have an
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          2  opportunity for recourse. And while I appreciate you

          3  saying that the open market is an open market, I

          4  think that the whole issue of creating restrictions

          5  or giving you opportunities to determine where you

          6  allocate your capital is something that we need to

          7  really reflect on a little more privately.

          8                 Clearly, if the companies are taking

          9  cautious risk, then I think that there should be

         10  some determination and some clear explanation on

         11  what that risk is.

         12                 I think that if you're looking to

         13  just stay in a positive capital mode, then we think

         14  there should be, I think there should be some

         15  general risk pool that the company should take on

         16  also.

         17                 I think the Florida example is a good

         18  example, because, you know, unfortunately, most of

         19  the voluntary companies have pulled out of Florida,

         20  and I think that that's a real problem. I think

         21  there should be some type of mandatory regulation to

         22  force the volunteer companies to stay.

         23                 I haven't heard of an insurance

         24  company going out of business in the last two or

         25  three years, to my recollection. The issue of
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          2  solvency and whether or not a hurricane will put an

          3  insurance company into insolvency is something I

          4  haven't heard at all.

          5                 MR. HENNING: I think after, when was

          6  the one in '95; was that Andrew?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mm-hmm.

          8                 MR. HENNING: I think that's what

          9  precipitated the problems in Florida, as quite a few

         10  companies were undercapitalized and went under

         11  because of the hurricane claims.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, but that

         13  was because they were under-capitalized because they

         14  did that on their own assessment, not because they

         15  were under-capitalized because they were forced to

         16  stay out of a particular area of the country. That's

         17  a different type of thing.

         18                 You're talking you can't say that,

         19  you can't turn around and say that because a company

         20  did bad internal business policy and got caught in

         21  '95, that they could then turn around and say,

         22  well, we want to be able to selective determine our

         23  risk areas and then determine that there should not

         24  be any exposure in some particular areas.

         25                 I have fundamental problems with
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          2  that. While I understand the need for business to

          3  have its own independent, to be independent to some

          4  degree, and the ability for homeowners and

          5  constituents to have insurance and be able to have

          6  an affordable opportunity for insurance I think is

          7  still part of the overall obligation for the entire

          8  industry, and I think that's something that we're

          9  going to need to look at in more general terms.

         10                 MR. HENNING: We would welcome the

         11  opportunity to talk about it. You know, when I

         12  looked at this hearing, I think you need to define,

         13  not you, I'm just saying in general, need to define

         14  what exactly the problem is, because we have been,

         15  as the insurance industry we have been struggling

         16  with this for the past two or three years now.

         17                 You can talk about, we do not, there

         18  is no -- I'm going to say, there is no problem with

         19  availability right now, okay? You don't get it

         20  through Allstate, you're going to get it through

         21  someplace else.

         22                 So, I don't see, you know, on its

         23  face these policy holder terminations as a problem.

         24  However, I do understand that the insurance that

         25  these people are finally getting, and I think
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          2  everyone is getting insurance --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: At a higher rate.

          4                 MR. HENNING: At a higher rate. So, I

          5  think you define the problem, then let's talk about

          6  affordability.

          7                 And that's a different argument.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

          9                 MR. HENNING: You know, that and one

         10  which I haven't addressed in this. I'm just talking

         11  availability, but you know, that's a whole another

         12  thing, a whole another different argument. But I

         13  think you have to be very careful that you don't mix

         14  up the affordability and the availability issue,

         15  because I think they are two very, very different

         16  issues.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I agree with you

         18  on that. And I'm not denying that they are separate

         19  and distinct issues. But if we then create a

         20  two-tier system, we've got to make sure that the

         21  benefits homeowners and opportunities are equal. You

         22  don't want to get into a portable pool, and then you

         23  find out that you don't have adequate --

         24                 MR. HENNING: I'm not suggesting that

         25  you set up an affordable pool.
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          2                 I'm talking about how to make

          3  insurance overall more affordable. Such as, how do

          4  we deal as a society, as a government, with our

          5  zoning?

          6                 You know, if you're going to put a

          7  house, and I know this is maybe part of the

          8  Rockaways or something, but if you're going to put a

          9  house on stilts, it's going to be expensive.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. And it's

         11  not going to be safe.

         12                 MR. HENNING: And it's not going to be

         13  safe.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         15                 MR. HENNING: So, what kind of

         16  mitigation efforts, zoning, hurricane shutters, do

         17  you do to make the house safer and thereby bring the

         18  cost down. So, I'm not talking about lumping people

         19  into a cheaper bare bones policy, I'm trying to get

         20  the cost of the whole market to come down.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         22                 All right, that makes a lot of sense.

         23                 The issue on low-risk areas and how

         24  risk is determined, how do the voluntary companies

         25  determine low-risk and high-risk areas?
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          2                 MR. HENNING: Oh, low risk and high

          3  risk areas?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

          5                 MR. HENNING: You know, it's not one

          6  standard approach. They'll use some type of

          7  modeling, and it's basically two types of modeling

          8  they'll use to come up with their final

          9  determination. One type of modeling, which is the

         10  meteorological modeling. They'll go out to hire

         11  scientists to say, you know, look at the climate

         12  change, look at the water temperature, give me a

         13  prediction two years out, five years out, 20 years

         14  out. You know, what is the frequency going to be for

         15  hurricanes in this region, okay? So, that's one part

         16  of the modeling.

         17                 The second part of the modeling, and,

         18  again, there are different companies that do that,

         19  you take all your homeowners insurance policies and

         20  then you run a computer program with, okay, if a

         21  hurricane hits, a category 2 hits here, this is

         22  what's going to happen. And you do that for, you

         23  know, category 2, category 3, category 4, category

         24  5, and then after you do all those runs you mix it

         25  all together and come up with an appropriate rate.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And is

          3  there an industry standard? Or is it done, each

          4  company comes up with their own modeling projection?

          5  Or a reference point?

          6                 MR. HENNING: You know, I know there

          7  are a couple, is it air? I'm looking at the Deputy

          8  Superintendent.

          9                 MR. MORIARTY: There are two main

         10  modeling firms, but there are all sorts of

         11  assumptions that can go into either one of the

         12  models by the insurance company using it. So you do

         13  have varied results, depending on the assumptions

         14  that were made.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         16                 MR. HENNING: So, you --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Depending on how

         18  you set up the --

         19                 MR. HENNING: You have the baseline,

         20  the different models.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         22                 MR. HENNING: But then, as you said,

         23  they say, okay, I want to do my rates based on, I'm

         24  going to assume a storm every ten years or every,

         25  you know, depending on how conservative or
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          2  aggressive they want to be.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          4                 MR. HENNING: Because let's say you

          5  take that baseline model and say I'm only going to

          6  assume a storm every 50 years. Your rate is going to

          7  be lower than if you assume a storm every --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Every three

          9  years.

         10                 MR. HENNING: Or whatever. So, as Mike

         11  said, there's differing assumptions which will

         12  affect the various, the price.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. But as Mr.

         14  Moriarty said, just to repeat it for the mic, there

         15  are two primary companies that are offering the

         16  assessments, it's how you use the data.

         17                 MR. HENNING: Yes. Actually, what you

         18  would do, you know, the company people would

         19  actually sit down with them and, you know, say these

         20  are the assumptions we want to make.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, okay, great.

         22  All right.

         23                 You bring up some interesting

         24  information.

         25                 I'm not new to this particular issue,
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          2  it's been affecting my district in a significant way

          3  for a long time, and I'm glad that we're having this

          4  hearing today. So, I want to thank you for coming

          5  and raising these issues. I hope to be able to

          6  discuss them with you in more detail. But I have to

          7  be out of here by 12:00 and I'm running really late.

          8                 I'm caffeine deprived, because the

          9  doctor told me recently I had to give up caffeine.

         10  I'm having a rough day.

         11                 MR. HENNING: Sorry to hear that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: My timing is all

         13  off. But I look forward to talking with you again,

         14  Mr. Henning. Thank you.

         15                 MR. HENNING: Okay. Thank you very

         16  much. Thank you, Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Paul Magaril,

         18  from the PCI Property and Casualty Insurers

         19  Association of America. Thank you for being here.

         20                 MR. MAGARIL: Thank you for having us

         21  and inviting us, and if I didn't have enough

         22  motivation, to go through this very quickly,

         23  following my colleague Mr. Henning, who made a lot

         24  of the points that I would make, and the late hour

         25  getting close to noon, the news that you are
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          2  caffeine-deprived, certainly something I can relate

          3  to, I will go through this very quickly.

          4                 Thank you. My name is Paul Magaril.

          5  I'm the Regional Manager for the Property Casualty

          6  Insurance Association of America.

          7                 We have a very strong presence in New

          8  York. Our members represent about 38 percent of the

          9  State homeowners market. And I'm going to, again, do

         10  this very, very quickly.

         11                 There was some mention before, I

         12  believe by Senator Klein, that all of this is

         13  happening, despite the fact that New York is a

         14  low-risk area. Clearly, the headlines from the last

         15  couple of years belies that claim. We've seen

         16  tremendous activity, hurricane activity throughout

         17  the country in the Gulf Coast, and in Florida. We've

         18  seen every year, it's almost becoming a ritual, in

         19  the early summer we see reports of massive increases

         20  in hurricane activity, whether it's because of

         21  global warming or changes in ocean currents, and

         22  clearly, as we know from history, it is only a

         23  matter of time before one of these storms hits New

         24  York.

         25                 Since 1900 New York has had nine
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          2  storms, which is the second most in all of the

          3  Northeast. And clearly when you look at the history

          4  it is only a matter of time before this is something

          5  we have to deal with.

          6                 So, that's one fact.

          7                 And one thing I also want to mention

          8  is, the speculation that companies are non-renewing

          9  because they have a hidden agenda, while there is

         10  absolutely no evidence of any of that, and it's

         11  something that all of us disagree with in the

         12  strongest terms, there are many facts that really do

         13  illustrate the dimensions of this problem. The

         14  increased hurricane activity and the potential for a

         15  New York storm is just one. Take that, add dramatic

         16  increase in property values over the last couple of

         17  years, which many people have derived tremendous

         18  benefits out of, over the last couple of years, and

         19  the fact that New York is one of the most densely

         20  populated areas in New York, and it's not a surprise

         21  that we're facing these issues and problems,

         22  affecting both policy holders and insurance

         23  companies.

         24                 The insured value of New York's

         25  coastal properties is $1.9 trillion. That's only
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          2  slightly less than Florida's exposure. And as was

          3  said before, if a storm comparable to the one that

          4  hit in 1938 was hit today, it would be comparable to

          5  the losses we saw in Katrina.

          6                 The result has been very rational on

          7  the part of the part of the market, and it might be

          8  objectionable to people, but it is rational and it

          9  does make sense. You take the increased activity,

         10  you take the increased exposure and the companies

         11  are naturally going to look, especially for those

         12  that have a high market share, by nature are going

         13  to look to scale back. They have an obligation to do

         14  that because of their overexposure, and especially

         15  when confronted with unprecedented levels of this

         16  exposure, companies with a disproportionately high

         17  market share and a high concentration of risk are

         18  going to look to lower that concentration of risk.

         19  Allstate is the perfect example. Allstate has

         20  written about 25 percent of the market in this area.

         21  And in so doing, they have been keeping prices very,

         22  very low over the last couple of years.

         23                 You take all of these factors, the

         24  increased risk, the increased exposure, if a

         25  category 3 hurricane were to hit Long Island in an
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          2  area where Allstate has that 25 percent of risk, it

          3  would be catastrophic for that company.

          4                 And, so, by nature their response,

          5  again, is a rational one to begin reducing through

          6  non-renewals. And the dimensions of that were

          7  illustrated by Mr. Moriarty. Policy holders are

          8  understandably concerned when an insurer announces

          9  that it's scaling back, and understandably upset

         10  when it affects them directly. I once got

         11  non-renewed by a company, and I remember how that

         12  felt. It wound up to be a mistake, and I still

         13  didn't go back to the company because I took it

         14  personally.

         15                 So, we understand how this affects

         16  individuals.

         17                 I don't want to duplicate what Mr.

         18  Henning said, but the fact is that if we saw these

         19  massive dislocations, and Senator Klein's memo in

         20  support of his bill says that insurers are being

         21  left unprotected, if that were true, we would see an

         22  increase in the amount of policies being written by

         23  the residual carrier, the residual market, the

         24  NYPUIA, as we heard before.

         25                 Mr. Henning mentioned a couple of
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          2  statistics. I used a slightly different one. The

          3  fact is that since Katrina, the NYPUIA for New York

          4  City has seen a decrease of 6.2 percent. This is a

          5  clear indication, as, again, as was established

          6  before, that we are not dealing with an availability

          7  problem.

          8                 If there was an availability problem,

          9  clearly we would see an increase, and a rather

         10  dramatic one, in the residual market. In fact, we've

         11  seen a decrease in the New York City area. We've

         12  actually seen an overall decrease in New York State.

         13  So, obviously there has been an increase on Long

         14  Island. This is New York City and we've seen a

         15  rather significant decrease, 6.2 percent, since

         16  September of '05.

         17                 The market here is clearly

         18  competitive. Availability is not a problem. And that

         19  leaves us, too, as again, Mr. Henning I thought

         20  correctly identified, if this is not an availability

         21  problem, what is the problem? The problem is

         22  affordability. And as long as we are talking about

         23  what the fact shows, the real problem, now I think

         24  there is a basis for all of the stakeholders in this

         25  to really be able to sit down and go, okay, we've
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          2  identified the problem, now what are the potential

          3  solutions.

          4                 Why have the costs gone up? Again,

          5  obvious, clear-cut rational reasons. Higher risk.

          6  Greater recognition by insurers of what these storms

          7  can do. Katrina obviously brought this issue home to

          8  everybody.

          9                 Estimates of higher the normal

         10  hurricane activity, as I said, predictions, perhaps

         11  hitting New York, and the fact that as property

         12  values go up, and again we've seen a dramatic

         13  increase, although that's come back down in

         14  essentially the last year, the last eight years

         15  property values have skyrocketed around the country

         16  and the New York City area. As a result, policies,

         17  when you deal with an increased risk, and an

         18  increased potential, you now have on top of that,

         19  the increased value of these homes, there is going

         20  to be a natural tendency for the cost of that

         21  insurance to begin to escalate. If, for no other

         22  reason, then replacing the house and fixing the

         23  house, the costs are going to be increased.

         24                 And, so, that's where we see the

         25  problem. It's not availability, people are not being
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          2  left unprotected, they are having, however, to pay

          3  more than they used to.

          4                 And, again, there are I think valid

          5  objective reasons for that.

          6                 The solution in our mind should be

          7  measures that increase competitiveness. Because

          8  through increased competitiveness, we will be able

          9  to maintain the current availability in the current

         10  capacity, and competitiveness is the surest way of

         11  putting a dampening effect on cost increases. Now

         12  we're seeing a bit of a spike. Katrina, it was less

         13  than two years ago, in the next year or two,

         14  especially if we don't see activity in New York, as

         15  we've seen in the past, after the 1992 hurricane,

         16  whose name escapes me, there was a sudden spike in

         17  costs, it came down a few years later.

         18                 What we need to do, we believe, is

         19  work with the government, with the City, with the

         20  State Legislature and the Insurance Department on

         21  measures that rather than decreasing and

         22  disincentivizing competition, increase competition.

         23                 The legislation that is before us

         24  today we believe goes in exactly the wrong

         25  direction, rather than encouraging competition and
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          2  providing more competition which over time will

          3  reduce these rates, we think it would do exactly the

          4  opposite.

          5                 As Mr. Henning mentioned, if you put

          6  a limit on what companies can do, they will be less

          7  -- they will be much more reluctant to enter into

          8  the market and commit the kind of money and

          9  competitive influences that we need to see that will

         10  begin to bring, make sure that we maintain the

         11  availability that we have, but begin to bring, if

         12  anything, prices down. Lord knows it will I think

         13  keep them from increasing to a greater degree than

         14  they otherwise would.

         15                 This kind of legislation sends just

         16  the wrong signal to insurance companies that are

         17  considering entering or expanding in New York. And

         18  we know from Superintendent Dinallo's testimony at

         19  the hearing a few weeks ago that more and more

         20  companies are entering the market and are taking up

         21  some of that capacity from companies that are

         22  non-renewing, which is where the availability comes

         23  from.

         24                 This bill severely curbs an insurance

         25  company's ability to perform a central function, and
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          2  that's managing risk. Companies will not be able to

          3  freely adjust their exposure after they enter New

          4  York.

          5                 And, again, as we said, this will

          6  exacerbate the problem, and I'm just going to quote

          7  what Superintendent Dinallo said at the last

          8  hearing: "You should be very careful about

          9  unintended consequences. What you don't want to do

         10  is create a feeling by the underwriter where they

         11  feel they can't go into a market because then they

         12  can't manage their risk adequately. It is important

         13  not to overreact. It is definitely a problem, but I

         14  don't believe at this time it is a crisis."

         15                 We agree with that assessment. This

         16  is clearly a problem. Legislators at the City level

         17  and the State level are hearing from their

         18  constituents regularly on this. It's important that

         19  we recognize what the problem is, not availability

         20  but affordability, and that we work together to find

         21  steps that encourage the kind of competition that

         22  will keep these policies affordable, rather than

         23  what we believe this legislation will go in the

         24  opposite direction.

         25                 And we look forward to working with
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          2  you, with the State Legislature, the Governor's

          3  Office and the Insurance Department on this very,

          4  very real problem, and we are very grateful for you

          5  holding the hearing and inviting us.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, thank you

          7  for coming and for your energetic testimony.

          8                 You kept alluding to measures that

          9  can be done to increase competitiveness. Do you have

         10  an idea or a scope of what those measures could be?

         11                 MR. MAGARIL: There is one bill in

         12  particular before the Legislature that passed the

         13  Senate that would expand NYPUIA.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you breakdown

         15  NYPUIA? That was my next question. You kept saying

         16  NYPUIA. I don't understand that acronym.

         17                 MR. MAGARIL: The New York

         18  Underwriters -- Property Underwriters Insurance

         19  Association.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         21                 MR. MAGARIL: New York Property

         22  Underwriters Insurance Association.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         24                 MR. MAGARIL: There is legislation

         25  that passed the Senate this past session, Senate
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          2  6266, which directs NYPUIA to develop an incentive

          3  plan for private insurers to write homeowners'

          4  insurance in New York's coastal markets, by

          5  providing credits. And there are a number of

          6  different ways that NYPUIA can provide greater

          7  incentives for insurance companies to expand their

          8  presence, continue and expand their presence in the

          9  coastal areas.

         10                 The plan is meant to encourage

         11  carriers to write full homeowners' policies, as well

         12  as wrap-around policies that supplement the plans

         13  NYPUIA currently offers.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, that's just

         15  for coastal areas. But you also are saying that you

         16  thought that there were other things that could be

         17  done to increase competitiveness, even though, you

         18  know, I agree with you the market has gone up,

         19  prices clearly of homes have gone up. The average

         20  median price in my district has gone up in the last

         21  five years about $200,000, you know, for a home. So,

         22  clearly, the need for insurance companies to be

         23  adequately covered is real, but what do we do to

         24  ensure that there is real competitiveness on the

         25  market for companies to stay in that area, as
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          2  opposed to leave?

          3                 MR. MAGARIL: I think that is an

          4  excellent question, sir. And this one bill would

          5  help. We truly believe that with government watching

          6  very closely, that most of this problem will be

          7  addressed by the market acting in a rational, free

          8  way. We are talking about areas where the homes, and

          9  I'm from this area, run, these homes on the coast

         10  running from the mansions in the Hamptons to very

         11  middle class areas in Queens and in Brooklyn, which

         12  is where I'm from originally, and as companies

         13  leave, and as the dimensions of this problem become

         14  clearer, we're only two years out from this problem,

         15  there is money to be made in these areas, and there

         16  are customers to keep in these areas, and as

         17  companies, like Allstate, do reduce what is a

         18  disproportionate market share, and begin to come

         19  down so that they're exposure is not quite so great.

         20                 Other companies by nature will come

         21  and fill that gap, as we are seeing, because there

         22  are profits and money to be made and customers to be

         23  had, and while it is illegal to use the absence of

         24  an auto policy to non-renew a homeowners' policy, I

         25  know for myself, I have my homeowners with someone,
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          2  I'm going to have all of my auto and all of my

          3  coverage with them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is that really

          5  better? I mean, most people like to separate because

          6  they think it's stronger for them to have different

          7  policies with different companies so that one

          8  doesn't bang against the other. A lot of people

          9  believe that if they have their auto policy with

         10  their homeowner policy and they get in an accident,

         11  they normally get dropped on both, and that's what

         12  I'm hearing from my constituents, as a reason to

         13  have separate carriers.

         14                 MR. MAGARIL: I know that carriers

         15  provide incentives to do both. And I know that

         16  worked for me. That's why I have all of my insurance

         17  with one company.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I know they

         19  provide the incentives, but there is still a general

         20  fear out there in the marketplace from the consumers

         21  that if they put all of their eggs in one basket and

         22  they, you know, especially in a new market like New

         23  York, where the opportunities for getting into a

         24  vehicular accident are a lot higher than having a

         25  problem with your home, frankly, and you wind up
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          2  losing both policies, and that's been expressed to

          3  me by a lot of constituents.

          4                 MR. MAGARIL: Getting back to your

          5  larger question, which I really think gets to the

          6  nub of the matter here, once we know that we're

          7  dealing with an affordability problem and not an

          8  availability problem, I think that the market forces

          9  in general will over time react in a very rational,

         10  very objective, very efficient way. And we've seen

         11  that in the past.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         13                 MR. MAGARIL: And we believe that a

         14  measure like this particular bill heads in the wrong

         15  direction.

         16                 This is still early, we're only two

         17  years out and I completely understand and we

         18  completely understand how upset people are and the

         19  calls that you and your colleagues are getting at

         20  the local and state level, when they get

         21  non-renewed, and we're gratified that there is not

         22  an availability problem, then we would really be

         23  talking about a crisis.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         25                 MR. MAGARIL: Once we're talking about
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          2  affordability, once we also recognize that property

          3  costs have been going up, we believe that if we give

          4  this a bit more time and monitor it very, very

          5  carefully, the market will take care of the bulk of

          6  this problem with an enhancement in the residual

          7  market for NYPUIA that provides for even greater

          8  incentives for companies to enter into this market.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I hope you're

         10  right.

         11                 Because, you know, it is an

         12  affordability problem when a person is used to

         13  paying X amount of money and then it's three times

         14  as much. You know, and they are required to maintain

         15  their home insurance because of their mortgage. So,

         16  hopefully we can deal with that on a real level. The

         17  issue that we brought up the leveling to two percent

         18  was so that we could create a more vigorous market,

         19  we thought, and we wanted to ensure that there was

         20  less exposure or less opting out by companies that

         21  just felt that they were over-exposed on the market

         22  share when we don't really know what the levels of

         23  risk or levels of capitalization are really. So,

         24  it's a difficult problem, and I'm sure it's one that

         25  we'll continue to have a lot of discussion about.
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          2                 MR. MAGARIL: And I think ultimately

          3  also this is not an issue that is flying under the

          4  radar. The City Council is involved, the State

          5  Legislature is involved, and if a year or two from

          6  now this problem is getting worse, we think that

          7  that presents a different set of problems and a

          8  different set of solutions. But for where we are

          9  right now, that's what we believe. And, again, we're

         10  grateful for the hearing and the opportunity to

         11  appear before you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, thank you

         13  for coming down Mr. Magaril.

         14                 Our last speaker, I want to thank her

         15  for waiting, is Vice President, or former Vice

         16  President for Queens Civic Congress, Ms. Barbara

         17  Larkin.

         18                 MS. LARKIN: Thank you, Chairman

         19  Comrie, for this opportunity to testify. I will be

         20  brief. I, too, need a cup of coffee.

         21                 The Queens Civic Congress appreciates

         22  the invitation, extended by you and Speaker Quinn,

         23  to share our position on this important matter.

         24                 My name is Barbara Larkin. I am

         25  currently the Vice President of Queens Civic
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          2  Congress, an umbrella organization of more than 110

          3  neighborhood-based civic organizations representing

          4  property owners, including those owning co-ops and

          5  condos and tenants who reside in every part of

          6  Queens County.

          7                 The Queens Civic Congress urges the

          8  City Council to weigh-in on an essential issue of

          9  consumer fairness and equity faced by many

         10  homeowners who live in or near shoreline

         11  communities.

         12                 The Queens Civic Congress urges City

         13  Council to adopt resolution A.30-A, which calls upon

         14  the New York State Legislature to pass legislation

         15  that would lower the percentage of homeowners

         16  insurance policies that a company may cancel or

         17  refuse to renew without the approval of the New York

         18  State Insurance Department.

         19                 In January of last year, Allstate

         20  Insurance Company decided to cancel or not renew

         21  homeowners insurance policies of approximately

         22  28,000 homeowners residing in coastal communities in

         23  New York City, Westchester and Long Island. Although

         24  my insurance coverage was not dropped, I live in the

         25  Rockaways and I'm also the President of the Belle
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          2  Harbor Property Homeowners Association, neighbors

          3  have shared their agonizing stories after receiving

          4  notification that their homeowners policies were not

          5  being renewed.

          6                 Since the 28,000 unfortunate policy

          7  holders cancelled or dropped by Allstate represents

          8  less than four percent of Allstate's total policies

          9  in New York State, the insurance company slips under

         10  that State insurance law threshold to notify the New

         11  York State Department of Insurance of its plans, or

         12  take any steps to ensure that the company's

         13  rejection of this clientele is conducted in a manner

         14  that minimizes the disruption sure to result when so

         15  many homeowners abruptly find themselves having to

         16  obtain replacement coverage.

         17                 Additionally, under current law,

         18  Allstate faces no requirement to demonstrate any

         19  kind of financial rationale for dropping these

         20  policyholders. Many of these property owners have

         21  had coverage with Allstate for decades, leaving them

         22  with no protection.

         23                 Bill 2269, which needs to be

         24  corrected on the original, introduced by State

         25  Senator Klein, would address this quagmire by
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          2  requiring insurers to demonstrate potential risk or

          3  loss to justify such cancellations or non-renewals

          4  before approval would be granted by the Department.

          5  The Queens Civic Congress finds this legislation

          6  would protect consumers and ensure stability in an

          7  insurance market and supports its enactment.

          8                 The Queens Civic Congress has already

          9  discussed introducing this legislation in the State

         10  Assembly. The City Council's message of support, as

         11  demonstrated through the passage of Resolution

         12  430-A, would help this cause greatly.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  testify here this morning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Ms.

         16  Larkin.

         17                 You heard from everyone that

         18  testified today, what did you get as a general sense

         19  from their testimony?

         20                 MS. LARKIN: Well, I was very

         21  impressed by the speakers who preceded me, and I

         22  certainly learned a lot about NYPUIA, which I hadn't

         23  known before. And although my background is not in

         24  sales or marketing, I was a teacher, I think I know

         25  fairness when I see it. And I appreciate their
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          2  testimony, and I'm glad to have had an opportunity

          3  to hear both sides of the issue in such an eloquent

          4  manner, manners.

          5                 I am the president of a civic

          6  association and a newly elected vice president of

          7  Queens Civic, so I sense and I feel empathy for,

          8  especially my neighbors who live in the Rockaways,

          9  which is a middle class neighborhood, and these are

         10  very responsible, wonderful people, some of them

         11  former teachers as well, and they were actually

         12  shocked to know that they were dropped.

         13                 But as I said, I personally was very

         14  happy and relieved to know that I was not one of

         15  these individuals, and I do feel for them, and, you

         16  know, the consequences that resulted.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You hadn't heard

         18  about the coastal program or the NYPUIA program?

         19                 MS. LARKIN: No, I was not aware of

         20  it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. I'm glad

         22  you came today so you can share it.

         23                 MS. LARKIN: Yes, and I very much

         24  welcome the website of the organizations. I know all

         25  of the information is being forwarded to your
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          2  office, so I can call you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, definitely.

          4                 MS. LARKIN: Over the next couple of

          5  days, and I can share that information, put it in

          6  our newsletter. I mean, I reach out to 1,300

          7  homeowners in the Belle Harbor area. I can share it

          8  with Neponsit, my neighboring organization, the

          9  Rockaway Park Organization and certainly with Queens

         10  Civic. That's the umbrella organization for over 110

         11  civic organizations.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         13                 I'm glad you came today to represent

         14  Queens Civic, and your own civic association, I look

         15  forward to working with you on this and other issues

         16  as we try to make sure that our homeowners get all

         17  the information and empowerment they need so that

         18  they can continue to have a good quality of life.

         19                 MS. LARKIN: Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         21                 With that, unless there is anybody

         22  that desires to speak, I want to declare the meeting

         23  closed. And again thank Rob Calandra for sitting in

         24  today, helping us with the background information,

         25  and Damien Butvick -- I've got to change your name.
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          2  I've come to respect Damien's desire and focus and

          3  energy, and I want to make sure that no one is

          4  laughing after I say his name, because he has been a

          5  good analyst, and I'm trying to appreciate his

          6  desire to make sure we have positive meetings. So,

          7  I'm going to come up with a new name for you after

          8  this.

          9                 With that, I'll declare the hearing

         10  closed for now. Thank you very much.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 30th day of October 2007.
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